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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of
CERTAIN INTEGRATED CIRCUITS Investigation No. 337-TA-1148
AND PRODUCTS CONTAINING THE
SAME

NOTICE OF A COMMISSION DETERMINATION TO REVIEW IN PART A
FINAL INITIAL DETERMINATION FINDING NO VIOLATION OF SECTION 337
AND, ON REVIEW, TO AFFIRM THE FINDING OF NO VIOLATION;
TERMINATION OF THE INVESTIGATION

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined to review in part the final initial determination (‘‘ID’”) issued by the presiding
administrative law judge (‘‘ALJ’’) on May 22, 2020, finding no violation of section 337 in the
above-referenced investigation and, on review, to affirm the finding of no violation. The
investigation is terminated.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Michael Liberman, Esq., Office of the
General Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, SW, Washington, D.C.
20436, telephone (202) 205-2392. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection
with this investigation may be viewed on the Commission’s electronic docket (EDIS) at
hitps://edis.usitc.gov. For help accessing EDIS, please email EDIS3Help@usitc.gov. General
information concerning the Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at
hitps://www.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on this matter
can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: On March 15, 2019, the Commission instituted Inv.
No. 337-TA-1148, Certain Integrated Circuits and Products Containing the Same under section
337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337 (“section 337”"), based on a complaint
filed by Tela Innovations, Inc. of Los Gatos, California (“Tela”). 84 FR 9558-59 (Mar. 15,
2019). The complaint alleges a violation of section 337 by reason of infringement of certain
claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 7,943,966 (“the *966 patent”); 7,948,012 (“the 012 patent™);
10,141,334 (“the *334 patent”); 10,141,335 (“the *335 patent”); and 10,186,523 (“the 523
patent”). The complainant also alleges the existence of a domestic industry. The notice of
investigation names as respondents Acer, Inc. of New Taipei City, Taiwan; Acer America



Corporation of San Jose, California; AsusTek Computer Inc. of Taipai, Taiwan; Asus Computer
International of Fremont, California; Intel Corporation of Santa Clara, California; Lenovo Group
Ltd. of Beijing, China; Lenovo (United States) Inc. of Morrisville, North Carolina; Micro-Star
International Co., Ltd. of New Taipei City, Taiwan; and MSI Computer Corp. of City of
Industry, California (collectively, “Respondents™). Id. at 9559. The Commission’s Office of
Unfair Import Investigations (“OUII”) is also named as a party in this investigation. /d.

The Commission has previously terminated the investigation as to the *966, 012 and
’335 patents, and as to certain claims of the *334 and ’523 patents. See Order No. 33 (Oct. 2,
2019), unreviewed by Notice (Oct. 22, 2019); Order No. 36 (Oct. 23, 2019), unreviewed by
Notice (Nov. 15, 2019); and Order No. 44 (Jan. 6, 2020), unreviewed by Notice (Feb. 3, 2020).

On May 22, 2020, the ALJ issued his “Initial Determination on Violation of Section 337
and Recommended Determination on Remedy and Bond” (“ID/RD”) finding that there is no
violation of section 337 in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the
sale within the United States after importation of certain integrated circuits and products
containing the same, in connection with the asserted claims of the 334 and 523 patents, and that
a domestic industry in the United States that practices or exploits the asserted patents does not
exist.

The ID finds that Respondents directly infringe claims 1, 2, and 5 of the 334 patent, and
that claims 1, 2, 5, and 15 of the 334 patent have been shown to be invalid. The ID also finds
that Tela’s licensee has not been shown to practice any claims of the *334 patent, and that the
domestic industry requirement is not satisfied with respect to the 334 patent. The ID finds that
there is no violation of section 337 with respect to the 334 patent.

The ID further finds that Respondents directly infringe claims 1-11, 14-20, 25, and 26 of
the ’523 patent, and that no claims of the *523 patent have been shown to be invalid. The ID
also finds that Tela’s licensee has not been shown to practice any claims of the *523 patent, and
that the domestic industry requirement is not satisfied with respect to the ’°523 patent. The ID
finds that there is no violation of Section 337 with respect to the ’523 patent.

All the parties to the investigation filed petitions for review of various portions of the
ID. On June 8, 2020, OUII filed a petition seeking review of the ID’s determination not to
analyze whether the asserted domestic industry claims are invalid and, contingently, seeking
review of the ID’s infringement findings. Also on June 8, 2020, Respondents filed a petition
contingently seeking review of the ID’s infringement and validity findings.

On June 11, 2020, Tela filed a petition seeking review of the ID’s findings concerning
the validity and the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement. Tela also seeks
contingent review of the ID’s infringement findings and the ID’s finding that Intel’s 45 nm
process is prior art under 35 U.S.C. 102(g)(2). In addition, Tela seeks review of Order No. 30
(Sept. 4, 2019), which granted-in-part Tela’s motion for leave to supplement its contention
interrogatory responses.



On June 18, 2020, the parties filed responses to the various petitions.

Having examined the record in this investigation, including the final ID, the petitions for
review, and the responses thereto, the Commission has determined to review the ID in part to
correct a legal error in the ID’s domestic industry findings. On review, the Commission has
determined to strike the paragraph relating to the *334 patent on pages 101-102 of the ID and
certain sentences relating to the ‘523 patent on page 168 of the ID. The Commission takes no
position on the issue of whether the asserted domestic industry claims, i.e., claims 29-30 of the
’334 patent and claims 27-28 of the 523 patent, are invalid. See Beloit Corp. v. Valmet Oy,
742 F.2d 1421, 1423 (Fed. Cir. 1984).

The Commission has also determined to review the ID in part on the issue of whether
Tela satisfied the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement, see ID at 185-188, and
to take no position on this issue. See Beloit, 742 F.2d at 1423.

The Commission has determined not to review the remainder of the ID, including the
ID’s finding of no violation of section 337 in this investigation. The Commission has also
determined not to review Order No. 30.

The investigation is terminated.

The Commission vote for this determination took place on September 23, 2020.

The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. 1337, and in Part 210 of the Commission’s Rules of
Practice and Procedure, 19 CFR part 210.

By order of the Commission.

Lisa R. Barton
Secretary to the Commission
Issued: September 23, 2020
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN INTEGRATED CIRCUITS Investigation No. 337-TA-1148
AND PRODUCTS CONTAINING THE
SAME

COMMISSION OPINION
The Commission has determined that there has been no violation of section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“section 337”) in this investigation with
respect to U.S. Patent Nos. 7,943,966 (“the 966 patent™); 7,948,012 (“the *012 patent”);
10,141,335 (“the *335 patent”); 10,186,523 (“the *523 patent”); and 10,141,334 (“the ’334
patent”) (collectively, “the Asserted Patents™). This opinion sets forth the Commission’s
reasoning in support of the Commission’s determination. In addition, the Commission adopts the

findings in the ID that are not inconsistent with this opinion.

L. BACKGROUND

A. Procedural History

The Commission instituted this investigation under section 337 on March 15, 2019, based
on a complaint filed by Tela Innovations, Inc. of Los Gatos, California (“Tela”). 84 Fed. Reg.
9558-59 (Mar. 15, 2019). The complaint alleges a violation of section 337 by reason of
infringement of certain claims of the 966 patent, the 012 patent, the 335 patent, the *523 patent,
and the ’334 patent. The notice of investigation names as respondents Acer, Inc. of New Taipei

City, Taiwan; Acer America Corporation of San Jose, California (together, “Acer”); AsusTek
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Computer Inc. of Taipai, Taiwan; Asus Computer International of Fremont, California (together,
“Asus”); Intel Corporation of Santa Clara, California (“Intel”); Lenovo Group Ltd. of Beijing,
China; Lenovo (United States) Inc. of Morrisville, North Carolina (together, “Lenovo”); Micro-
Star International Co., Ltd. of New Taipei City, Taiwan; and MSI Computer Corp. of City of
Industry, California (together, “MSI”), (all respondents collectively, “Respondents™). Id. at 9559.
The Commission’s Office of Unfair Import Investigations is also named as a party in this
investigation. /d.

The Commission subsequently terminated the investigation as to all asserted claims of the
’966, *012, and ’335 patents, as well as to certain claims of the *334 patent and the ’523 patent.
See Order No. 33 (Oct. 2, 2019), unreviewed by Notice (Oct. 22, 2019); Order No. 36 (Oct. 23,
201), unreviewed by Notice (Nov. 15, 2019); Order No. 45, unreviewed by Notice (Feb. 3, 2020).
At the hearing, Tela asserted claims 1, 2, 5, and 15 of the *334 patent and claims 1-11, 14-20, 25,
and 26 of the ’523 patent against the accused products. For the technical prong of the domestic
industry requirement, Tela argued that the domestic industry products practiced claims 29-30 of
the 334 patent and claims 27-28 of the *523 patent. ID at 5.

On July 17, 2019, the ALJ held a Markman hearing and, on October 2, 2019, issued Order
No. 34 (“the Markman Order”), construing certain claim terms of the patents at issue. Order No.
34 (July 17, 2019).

On August 19, 2019, complainant Tela moved for leave to supplement its contention
interrogatory responses concerning infringement, domestic industry, and the public interest. On
August 28, 2019, Respondents and the Commission’s investigative attorney (“the IA”) filed

responses opposing the motion in part. On September 4, 2019, the ALJ issued Order No. 30,
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which partly granted and partly denied Tela’s motion. Order No. 30 (Sep. 4, 2019).!

The evidentiary hearing took place on December 9-13, 2019. On May 22, 2020, the ALJ

issued the final ID finding that there is no violation of section 337 in the importation into the

United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after importation of

certain integrated circuits and products containing the same, in connection with the remaining

asserted claims of the 334 and ’523 patents. ID at 204. In particular, the ID finds no domestic

industry with respect to either patent. The ID’s findings are summarized in the following table:

Asserted ID’s Infringement ID’s Domestic Industry ID’s Validity
Patent Findings Per Claim Findings Per Claim Findings Per Claim
The ’334 1, 2, 5 —directly infringed |29, 30 — not practiced 1,2,5, 15— shown to be
patent 15 — not infringed invalid
29, 30 — the validity is not
addressed 2
The *523 1-11, 14-20, 25, 26 — 27, 28 — not practiced 1-11, 14-20, 25, 26 — not
patent directly infringed shown to be invalid

27, 28 — the validity is not
addressed 3

See ID at 5, 101, 168, 188.

Tela filed a petition for review of various portions of the ID and Order No. 30.* The IA

! For a detailed procedural history, see ID at 1-3.

2 See discussion infira at I11.

3 See discussion infira at I11.

4 See Complainant Tela Innovations, Inc’s Corrected Petition and Contingent Petition for Review
(June 11, 2020) (“ComplPet”).
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likewise filed a petition for review of the ID in part.> Respondents filed a contingent petition for
review.® The parties also filed responses to the various petitions.’

B. Semiconductor Chip Technology and the Asserted Patents

The technology at issue relates to the design and manufacture of semiconductor chips with
lithographic and epitaxial processes. ID at 5, 68. A semiconductor is a material that has electrical
conductivity properties falling between that of a conductor and an insulator. ID at 5-6 (citing
Joint Technology Tutorial (“JTT”) at 2). The relevant transistor in the present investigation is a
complementary metal oxide semiconductor, or CMOS. Id. (citing JTT at 11, 14). A CMOS
transistor consists of four basic components: (1) a body; (2) a source region made of one type of
semiconductor; (3) a drain region also made of that type of semiconductor; and (4) a gate made of
metal and an oxide, where the gate oxide functions as an insulator by separating the gate metal
from the other components. /d. (citing JTT at 10-14). The circuitry on a CMOS chip is formed
through a multi-stage process, including layout, in which the size, shape, and spacing of the chip’s
features are specified, followed by photolithography. Id. at 6-7 (citing JTT at 17, 19;
Respondents’ Initial Claim Construction Brief, Ex. 6 at 6.). Further processing can then be used

to build features on the wafer. The parties’ experts provided lengthy overviews of the technology.

> See Petition of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations for Review-in-Part of the Initial
Determination on Violation of Section 337 (June 8, 2020) (“IAPet”).

6 See Respondents’ Contingent Petition for Review of The Initial Determination (June 8, 2020)
(“RespPet”).

7 See Complainant Tela Innovations, Inc.’s Response to Respondents’ and Staff’s Petitions for
Review of The Initial Determination (June 18, 2020) (“ComplResp”); Response of The Office of
Unfair Import Investigations to The Private Parties’ Petitions for Review of The Final Initial
Determination On Violation Of Section 337 (June 18, 2020) (“IAResp”); Respondents’
Opposition to Complainant’s Petition for Review of The Initial Determination (June 18, 2020)
(“RespResp”).
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See generally CX-1144C (Foty WS) at Q/A 46-135; RX-14C (Subramanian WS) at Q/A 15-69.

The ’334 patent is entitled “Semiconductor Chip Including Region Having Rectangular-
Shaped Gate Structures and First-Metal Structures.” ’334 patent. The *334 patent issued on
November 27, 2018. Id.

The ’523 patent is entitled “Semiconductor Chip Having Region Including Gate Electrode
Features Formed in Part From Rectangular Layout Shapes on Gate Horizontal Grid and First-
Metal Structures Formed in Part From Rectangular Layout Shapes on at Least Eight First-Metal
Gridlines of First-Metal Vertical Grid.” ’523 patent. The application leading to the *523 patent
was filed on August 31, 2018, and claims priority, through a series of intervening continuation
applications, to a provisional application, 60/781,288, filed on March 9, 2006. Id. The ’523
patent issued on January 22, 2019.

The remaining Asserted Patents both relate to the design and manufacture of integrated
circuits forming semiconductor chips. The ’334 patent focuses on the shape and fabrication of
“structures” on the resulting chip, see, e.g., *334 patent at claim 1, while the ’523 patent focuses
on the “layout shapes” used as an input to a lithography process during fabrication of the chip,
see, e.g., '523 patent at claim 1. These patents aim to address the manufacturing problems created
by the “lithographic gap,” which is the “difference between the minimum feature size and the
wavelength of light used in the photolithography process.” 523 patent at 4:11-13.

C. Accused Products

The accused products in this investigation are integrated circuits — central processing units

(“CPUs”) and chipsets — fabricated with respondent Intel’s 14 nm and 10 nm manufacturing
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processes, ® and desktops, laptops, motherboards, and other computers manufactured and sold by
respondents Acer, Asus, Lenovo, and MSI® containing those integrated circuits. ID at 10 (citing
CIB at 8-9). The ID notes that the individual part and model numbers are too numerous to be
reproduced in the ID but are listed in demonstratives to Tela’s expert’s testimony and attached to
the ID as Appendix A. /d. (citing CX-1144C at Q/A 7- 11; CDX-0003; CDX-0004; CDX-0005;
CDX-0006; CDX-0007). All of the products listed in these demonstratives are referred to as the
“Accused Products.” The 14 nm products listed in CDX-0003 from respondent Intel will be
referred to as the “Intel 14 nm Products,” and the 10 nm products will be referred to as the “Intel
10 nm Products.” See id.

The ID further notes that Tela’s expert, Dr. Foty, and Respondents’ expert, Dr.
Subramanian, have provided demonstratives associating subsets of the Intel 14 nm Products and

» 10

Intel 10 nm Products with certain “cells” " used in Tela’s infringement case. /d. These subsets,

along with their associated cells, are listed below:

Intel 14 nm Products

Product Family/Architecture | Associated Cells

Broadwell; [[ 1]
Sky Lake; ([ 1]

8 The 14 nm and 10 nm manufacturing processes refer to the processes of making integrated
circuits with certain characteristics, referred to as 14 nm and 10 nm products, respectively. See
CX-1144C (Foty) at Q/A 7-11, 190, 606-614, 1881-1887, 1891-1892, 2358, 2401.

? See supra at .A.

10 “Typically the layout of an integrated circuit is constructed from smaller layout blocks called
cells, which correspond to the layout of a particular function. An example of a cell is a flip-flop,
which is a common element in an integrated circuit for storing data.” CX-1144 (Foty) at Q/A
107.
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Intel 14 nm Products

Product Family/Architecture | Associated Cells
Kaby Lake; [l 11
Coffee Lake
Cascade Lake [l 1]
Goldmont; [l 1]
Goldmont Plus [[ 1]

[l 1l
Ice Lake Chipset; I 1
Cannon Lake Chipset

Intel 10 nm Products

Product Family/Architecture | Associated Cells

Ice Lake; Cannon Lake [[ 1]

1l 1l
1l 1

ID at 10-11 (citing CDX-0012C at *25-26; RDX-0016C at *37-39).

D. Domestic Industry (“DI”) Products

The domestic industry products in this investigation are integrated circuits, more
specifically, 14 nm Exynos computer processors, made for mobile devices. ID at 8 (citing CIB at
9). Tela’s licensee, Samsung Austin Semiconductor (“SAS”), performs front-end wafer
fabrication in Austin, Texas. Id.; ComplPet at 30-32. Tela explains that these 14 nm Exynos

processors are “fabricated using a version of Samsung’s'! 14 nm process technology —

' Hereinafter, “Samsung” stands for Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. 1D at 177.

7
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LN14LPEM (14LPE), LN14LPPM (14LPP), or LN14LPCM (14LPC).” ID at 8 (citing CIB at 10
(citing CX-1144C at Q/A 1618-1622, 2692-1693; CX-0033C at 9; CX-1228C at 52:12-54:7)).
The particular processors made by each of these processes and relied on by Tela to satisfy the

technical prong of the domestic industry requirement, are listed below:

Tela’s “DI Products”
Code Name Fab Part ID | Brand Name 522;?310%
[[1] S5E7420 Exynos 7 Octa (7420) Mobile Processor | 14LPE
[ 1 S5S5E8890 Exynos 8 Octa (8890) Mobile Processor | 14LPP
[[ 1] S5S5E8890 Exynos 8 Octa (8890) Mobile Processor | 14LPP
[[1] S5E7880 Exynos 7880 Mobile Processor 14LPP
[rn S5SE7570 Exynos 7 Quad (7570) Mobile Processor | 14LPC
([ 1] S5SE7870 Exynos 7 Octa (7870) Mobile Processor | 14LPC
([ 1] SSE7883 Exynos 7883 Mobile Processor 14LPC

Id. at 9 (citing CIB at 10) (internal citations omitted). These processors are referred together as

the “DI Products.”'?

12 In Order No. 30, the ALJ denied Tela’s belated request to supplement its contention
interrogatory responses; Tela had sought to add five Qualcomm processors to the DI Products.
See Order No. 30 at 1-2. Tela now urges the Commission to reverse Order No. 30 and to consider
the Qualcomm processors in its technical and economic prong analyses. See generally ComplPet
at 46-60. The Commission declines Tela’s request because Order No. 30 reflects a reasonable
exercise of judicial discretion. Further, Order No. 30 appropriately considers the moving party’s
diligence and the prejudice to the non-moving party, which comports with similar orders. See,
e.g., Certain Semiconductor Devices, Semiconductor Device Packages, and Products Containing
Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-1010, Order No. 58 at 3 (Jan. 17, 2017) (assessing the complainant’s
diligence and the prejudice to the respondent); Certain Microelectromechanical Systems (“MEMS
Devices”) and Products Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-876, Order No. 49 at 2 (Dec. 13,
2013) (finding that the respondent’s lack of diligence undermined its ability to show good cause
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Tela’s evidentiary presentation regarding the economic prong of the domestic industry
requirement and discussion of the relied upon investments is based on a separate, three-tiered
classification of the DI Products, to accommodate situations in which less than all of them satisfy

technical prong. Id. The tiers are as follows:

Tela’s Economic Prong Groups

Group 1 [[ 1] (7420)
Group 2 Group 1 +[[  1](8890), [[ 11 (8890), [[ 1] (7880)
Group 3 Group 1 + Group 2 + [[]] (7570) + [[ 11 (7870) +[[ 1] (7883)

Id. (citing CIB at 160; RIB at 172-173).

IL. STANDARD ON REVIEW
Under Commission Rule 210.43, the Commission will review an ID where it appears
that —

(1) a finding or conclusion of material fact is clearly erroneous;

(2) a legal conclusion is erroneous, without governing precedent, rule or
law, or constitutes an abuse of discretion; or

(3) the determination is one affecting Commission policy.
19 C.F.R. § 210.43.
The Commission may review an ID on the basis of a petition for review or on its own
initiative. 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.43, 210.44. The party seeking review is required to specify the issues
for which review is sought. Any issue that is not raised in the petition is deemed to have been

abandoned and may be disregarded by the Commission, unless the Commission determines to

for supplementing an interrogatory response). Accordingly, the Commission has not included the
Qualcomm processors in the DI products.
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review the issue on its own initiative. Commission review will encompass those issues for which
at least one participating Commissioner votes to review. /d.

Commission review of an initial determination is limited to the issues set forth in the
notice of review and all subsidiary issues therein. Certain Bar Clamps, Bar Clamp Pads, and
Related Packaging Display and Other Materials, Inv. No. 337-TA-429, Comm’n Op. at 3 (Jan. 4,
2001). Once the Commission determines to review an initial determination, its review is de novo.
Certain Polyethylene Terephthalate Yarn and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-457,
Comm’n Op. at 9 (Jun. 18, 2002). Upon review the “Commission has ‘all the powers which it
would have in making the initial determination,” except where the issues are limited on notice or
by rule.” Certain Flash Memory Circuits and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-382,
Comm’n Op. on the Issues Under Review and on Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding at 9-
10 (Jun. 2, 1997), USITC Pub. 3046 (July 1997) (quoting Certain Acid-Washed Denim Garments
and Accessories, Inv. No. 337-TA-324, Comm’n Op. at 5 (Nov. 1992)).

On review, “the Commission may affirm, reverse, modify, set aside or remand for further
proceedings, in whole or in part, the initial determination of the administrative law judge. In
addition, the Commission may take no position on specific issues or portions of the initial
determination of the administrative law judge. The Commission may also make any findings or
conclusions that in its judgment are proper based on the record in the proceeding.” 19 C.F.R.

§ 210.45.

III. ANALYSIS
While analyzing invalidity and other defenses raised by Respondents, the ID declines to

analyze respondents’ arguments concerning the invalidity of the asserted domestic industry

10
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claims.!® See ID at 101, 168. The IA sought review of the ID in part, arguing that the ID’s
decision not to analyze whether the asserted DI claims are invalid is a legal error. IAPet at 17.
The Commission has determined to review the ID in part on this issue.

The ID states:

Before turning to the[] merits [of various invalidity and unenforceability
theories for the 334 patent], however, a few preliminary points are warranted.
Two of the disputed claims, 29 and 30, are pertinent only to the technical prong
of domestic industry. See RIB at 74-75; SIB at 83-84. In general, however, it is
“Commission practice not to couple an analysis of domestic industry to a validity
analysis.” Certain Soft-Edged Trampolines and Components Thereof, Inv. No.
337-TA-908, Comm’n Op. at 53 (May 1, 2015). Indefiniteness is the only basis
for invalidity that bears on whether the technical prong is met, because
indefiniteness “ma[kes] it impossible for the complainant to demonstrate whether
a patent claim [is] practiced.” Certain Silicon Microphone Packages and
Products Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-695, Notice at 3 (Jan. 21, 2011).
But indefiniteness is not one of the asserted grounds of invalidity of these two
claims. See RIB at 74-75; SIB at 83-84. Therefore, whether claims 29 and 30 of
the 334 patent are invalid is not relevant, and the parties’ dispute over these
claims need not be resolved or otherwise addressed.

ID at 101-102. See also id. at 168 (“Claim 27 [of the *523 patent] is pertinent only to the
technical prong of domestic industry. See RIB at 148; SIB at 83-84. Thus, because indefiniteness
is not an asserted ground of invalidity of claim 27, the parties’ dispute over that claim need not be
resolved or otherwise addressed.”) (citing Silicon Microphone Packages, Inv. No. 337-TA-695,
Notice at 3).

We find that the ID’s determination that the parties’ dispute over validity of the asserted
DI claims “need not be resolved or otherwise addressed” is legally erroneous. See ID at 102.
While the ID correctly notes that it is “Commission practice not to couple an analysis of domestic

industry to a validity analysis,” ID at 101, this statement, correctly interpreted, indicates that a

13 As noted previously, the asserted DI claims are: claims 29-30 of the ‘334 patent and claims 27-
28 of the ’523 patent.

11
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technical prong analysis and a validity analysis coexist and one does not affect, or preclude, the
other.

Commission precedent supports this interpretation. Where the technical prong is otherwise
met because the DI claims read on the DI products, but the DI claims are invalid, there can be no
violation because the domestic industry articles are not protected by the patent. See 19 U.S.C.

§ 1337(a)(2) (the DI articles must be “protected by the patent). Thus, as the IA correctly points
out, “the Trampolines line of cases merely clarifies that even if a domestic industry claim is
invalid, such an invalidity finding does not preclude a finding that the complainant’s domestic
industry article has otherwise met the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement][,]”
i.e., by finding that the asserted DI products meet the limitations of the relevant claims. TAPet at
19.'* In short, the question of whether the DI claims are valid is a separate question argued by the
parties that the ID should have addressed.

We therefore strike the paragraph quoted above, see ID at 101-102, and the following
sentences relating to the 523 patent:

Claim 27 is pertinent only to the technical prong of domestic industry.

See RIB at 148; SIB at 83-84. Thus, because indefiniteness is not an asserted
ground of invalidity of claim 27, the parties’ dispute over that claim need not be

4 The IA’s petition cites, inter alia, Certain Silicon Microphone Packages and Products
Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-695, USITC Pub. No. 4293, Notice at 3 (Jan. 21, 2011)
(“The Commission has determined to review and vacate the ID’s conclusion that the technical
prong of the domestic industry requirement, 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(2) & (a)(3), is not met where all
the asserted patent claims are found invalid. It is Commission practice not to couple an analysis
of domestic industry to a validity analysis.”) (citation omitted); and Certain Infotainment Systems,
Components Thereof, and Automobiles Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-1119, Comm. Op.
at 27-44 (April 30, 2020)). See IAPet at 19-20. See also Certain Microlithographic Machines
and Components Thereof, Inv. 337-TA-468, Initial Determination at 68, 447 (Jan. 29, 2003)
(finding that the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement is satisfied with respect to
the claims that were found to be invalid), unreviewed by Notice (March 17, 2003).
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resolved or otherwise addressed. Silicon Microphone Packages, Inv. No. 337-
TA-695, Notice at 3.

ID at 168.1°

We note Tela’s assertion that “[d]espite requesting that the Commission review the ID’s
determinations regarding obviousness of the *523 DI claims, the Staff did not assert obviousness
as to any DI claim before the ALJ. (ID at 168; SIB at 113-14.) Staff thus waived any arguments
that the DI claims of the 523 Patent are obvious.” ComplResp at 46. Tela’s assertion, however,
does not warrant a finding of waiver. The IA petitions for review of the ID’s alleged legal errors
unrelated to the merits of the underlying invalidity contentions regarding the DI claims, and,
therefore, the 1A is permitted to petition for review of the question of whether the ID made a legal
error in its analysis to conclude that the parties’ invalidity dispute need not be addressed. See
[APet at 21, accord Myco Industries, Inc. v. BlephEx, LLC, 955 F.3d 1, 11 n.4 (Fed. Cir. 2020)
(““While a party can waive his or her ability to appeal a ruling for failure to object, there can be

299

no waiver here of the Judge’s duty to apply the correct legal standard.””) (quotations omitted);
GPNE Corp. v. Apple Inc., 830 F.3d 1365, 1372 (Fed. Cir. 2016) (“In general, ‘litigants waive
their right to present new claim construction disputes if they are raised for the first time after
trial.” . . . [T]his is not what happened here.”) (internal citations omitted).

Accordingly, we find that the ID legally erred in concluding that a validity analysis does

not need to be performed for claims that pertain only to the technical prong of the domestic

15 We note that, in addition, the above two sentences appear to contain a clerical error and were
likely meant to read as follows: “Claims 27 and 28 are pertinent only to the technical prong of
domestic industry. . . . Thus, because indefiniteness is not an asserted ground of invalidity of
claims 27 and 28, the parties’ dispute over these claims need not be resolved or otherwise
addressed.” See ID at 168; see also IAPet at 18 n. 4. The Commission’s decision to strike the
above two sentences, however, renders this issue moot.

13
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industry requirement. However, the ID found no violation of section 337 because Tela does not
practice the asserted DI claims with respect to either the *334 or 523 patents. See ID at 188-89.
The Commission has determined not to review the finding concerning the technical prong of the
domestic industry requirement. In light of this determination, there is no need for the
Commission in this instance to resolve whether the asserted DI claims (i.e., claims 29-30 of the
’334 patent and claims 27-28 of the 523 patent) are valid because this issue will not affect the
ultimate determination that there is no violation of section 337. Accordingly, the Commission
takes no position on the issue of whether claims 29-30 of the *334 patent and claims 27-28 of the
’523 patent are valid. See Beloit Corp. v. Valmet Oy, 742 F.2d 1421, 1423 (Fed. Cir. 1984).

The Commission has also determined to review the ID in part on the issue of whether Tela
satisfied the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement, see ID at 185-188, and to take
no position on this issue. See Beloit, 742 F.2d at 1423.

IV.  CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the Commission determines that complainant Tela has not
established a violation of section 337 by Respondents with respect to the asserted claims of the
’334 and ’523 patents. Accordingly, the investigation is terminated with a finding of no violation

of section 337.

By order of the Commission.

Lisa R. Barton
Secretary to the Commission

Issued: December 30, 2020
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